COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FRANCISCO GUILLEN, ROBERTO GUILLEN, HECTOR FIERRO, MARTIN GUILLEN, and JOSE TIMOTEO,

Appellants

v.

BENJAMIN PEARSON, VULCAN MOUNTAIN CONSTRUCTION, ABSI BUILDERS, INC., GRAVELLY LAKE TOWNHOMES, LLC, CBIC, and RLI INSURANCE,

Defendants

and

MILESTONE AT WYNNSTONE LLC, MILESTONE AT WYNNSTONE 2 LLC, and RED CANOE CREDIT UNION,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

David N. Mark, WSBA #13908 Diego Rondón Ichikawa, WSBA # 46814 Attornevs for Appellants

WASHINGTON WAGE CLAIM PROJECT 810 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104 Tel. (206) 340-1840

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment No. 1: The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of defendant Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC on January 30, 2015.

Assignment No. 2: The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of defendant Milestone at Wynnstone 2, LLC and Red Canoe Credit Union on May 29, 2015.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- **A.** Whether laborers employed by a licensed subcontractor who has contracted with the real property owner have a right to file a chapter 60.04 RCW mechanics' lien?
 - 1. Whether laborers have a right to file chapter 60.04 RCW liens?
 - 2. Whether, and under what circumstances, a licensed subcontractor is a "construction agent" under RCW 60.04.011(1)?
- **B.** Whether laborers must themselves be licensed as subcontractors in order to file liens, even though they only sell their labor and are not otherwise engaged in the contracting business?
- C. Whether a lien plaintiff meets its obligation under RCW 60.04.141 by serving the entity that owned the property at the time of suit and does so within 90 days, even though the property is sold seven weeks after suit is filed?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Unpaid Labor and Lien Claims Based Thereon

Appellants Francisco Guillen, Roberto Guillen, Hector Fierro, Martin Guillen, and Jose Timoteo (the "laborers") are five individuals who in 2014 worked as employees of ABSI Builders, Inc. ("ABSI"). CP 174-76

& 385-87. ABSI was a registered Washington contractor. CP 158-62 & 320. ABSI and Milestone at Wynnstone LLC ("Milestone") had a contract under which ABSI agreed to perform framing work at the Milestone apartment project. CP 68-70 & 157. Milestone was the owner of the real property. CP 66. The laborers filed a \$9,914 mechanics' lien for a little more than two weeks unpaid labor performed on the Milestone property in April 2014. CP 71-77. The lien was filed on May 27, 2014. CP 71.

B. Agreement Between ABSI and Milestone

In October 2013, Milestone contracted ABSI to frame 14 apartment buildings at its Milestone at Wynnstone apartment development in Puyallup. CP 68-70 & 157. The contract defined ABSI as a "subcontractor." CP 68. The contract specified that ABSI was to "[p]rovide labor, material and equipment to frame [14] buildings." CP 68. Paragraph 2 of the contract's terms and conditions stated:

Subcontractor Responsible for Its Work. Subcontractor shall be responsible for the design, engineering, construction details and all other aspects of its work hereunder, provided that Subcontractor shall comply with any plans, specifications and other Contract Documents.

CP 69, 157, & 346. ABSI was authorized to hire employees to perform the framing labor. CP 153 & 341.

2

¹ ABSI was prohibited from subcontracting out the framing labor without prior authorization from Milestone; ABSI did not seek authorization from Milestone to subcontract out the labor. CP 153 & 341.

Paragraph 6 of the contract's terms and conditions, entitled "Liens," discusses material and labor liens, as follows:

Liens. Payment under this Agreement may be withheld until satisfactory waivers of liens, release of liens or evidence of full payment is furnished from all subcontractors, materialmen, laborers or others who might be entitled to a lien on the premises upon which work is done or materials furnished under this Agreement, for work or material furnished thereon. Builder is authorized to pay directly Subcontractor's materialmen, laborers or subcontractors . . .

.

CP 69, 157, & 346 (emphasis in original). Milestone did not obtain lien releases from appellant laborers, nor did it pay appellant laborers directly—two options which were available to Milestone under the contract. CP 154-56 & 342-344.

Paragraph 15 of the contract further provides that ABSI is an independent contractor, as follows:

Independent Contractor. The Subcontractor shall under no circumstances be considered as the agent or employee of Builder and shall have no right or authority to, in any manner, obligate the Builder to any other person or entity.

CP 69, 157, & 346 (emphasis in original).

C. Procedural History

On June 4, 2014, the laborers filed a complaint in Pierce County Superior Court against Milestone and other defendants, to recover their

unpaid wages and to enforce their lien against Milestone.² CP 2-7. Milestone was served on August 27, 2014, by service upon the Secretary of State, pursuant to RCW 25.15.025. CP 287-97.³ On July 21, 2014, seven weeks after suit was filed, Milestone recorded a quitclaim deed in favor of Milestone at Wynnstone 2 LLC ("Milestone 2"). CP 350-51. Milestone's managing member, Brandon Smith, is the sole owner and managing partner of Milestone 2. CP 66 & 339-40. A few days later, on July 25, 2014, Red Canoe Credit Union ("Red Canoe") recorded a deed of trust against the liened property, executed by Milestone 2. *See* CP 109.

On November 7, 2014, the trial court granted the laborers' motion for leave to file a supplemental complaint that added claims against Milestone 2 and Red Canoe. CP 105-06. The laborers filed the supplemental complaint on November 12, 2014, approximately five months

_

² The additional defendants are not party to this appeal. They include the laborers' employers (ABSI, Vulcan Mountain Construction, Inc., and Benjamin Pearson), the employers' RCW 18.27.040 sureties (CBIC, and RLI Insurance), and the owner of another property on which the laborers had also performed unpaid labor (Gravelly Lake Townhomes, LLC). CP 2-7. The laborers obtained a default judgment against ABSI and Vulcan Mountain Construction, Inc. CP 21-22. They dismissed their individual claims against Mr. Pearson. CP 103-04. They were able to recover part of their wages from the sureties, sharing that recovery with other unpaid workers who had a separate lawsuit. CP 444-58. The lien claims against Gravelly Lake Townhomes, LLC were settled and dismissed on August 25, 2015. CP 416-17. The sureties CBIC and RLI were formally dismissed on September 29, 2015, although they had paid the proceeds of their bonds into the court registry and been exonerated several months earlier. CP 444-58.

³ Milestone's registered agent abandoned his office in late 2013. CP 336-37. The laborers' process server attempted service on July 24, 2014, and found a vacant lot being prepped for construction. CP 290. Based on the process server's declaration, the laborers served Milestone through the Secretary of State. CP 287-88 & 292-97.

after the original complaint. CP 107-14. Red Canoe was served on December 30, 2014; Milestone 2 was served on January 27, 2015. CP 197; *see* CP 236-39.

On October 3, 2014, Milestone filed a 4-page motion for summary judgment. CP 62-65. It argued that ABSI was not its chapter 60.04 RCW "construction agent" because (a) the contract provided ABSI was not its "agent" and (b) ABSI was "not in charge" of the entire construction project. *Id.* It further argued that "Washington law certainly does not contemplate that each employee of a subcontractor has a lien for labor" and that laborers must be registered as contractors in order to able to file a mechanics' lien. *Id.* The trial court granted Milestone's summary judgment motion on January 30, 2015. CP 188-89.

On April 30, 2015, Milestone 2 and Red Canoe filed their motion for summary judgment, raising the same arguments raised by Milestone, plus additional arguments of allegedly untimely joinder and service of Milestone 2 under RCW 60.04.141. CP 271-77. The trial court granted summary judgment to Milestone 2 and Red Canoe on May 29, 2015. CP 409-10. The claims against the remaining defendants were subsequently dismissed and this appeal followed.⁴ CP 418-43.

-

⁴ The laborers' original notice of appeal was filed on September 25, 2015, based on the dismissal of claims against Gravelly Lake Townhomes. CP 416-17. Since the claims against the sureties CBIC and RLI had not been formally dismissed, the laborers obtained

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"Summary judgment rulings are reviewed de novo." *Potter v. Wash.*State Patrol, 165 Wn.2d 67, 78, 196 P.3d 691 (2008). Summary judgment is proper if the record shows there are no genuine issues of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). The evidence must be reviewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and all reasonable inferences must be drawn in that party's favor. *Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue*, 161 Wn.2d 353, 358, 166 P.3d 667 (2007).

B. Rules of Statutory Construction

"The court's fundamental objective in construing a statute is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent." *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 229 P.3d 791 (2010). "If the language is unambiguous, [the Court] give[s] effect to that language and that language alone because [the Court] presume[s] the legislature says what it means and means what it says." *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 470, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). "Plain meaning is to be discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that

an order dismissing them on September 29, 2015, CP 444-58, and filed a second Notice of Appeal on October 19, 2015. The Court assigned the second notice the same case number as the first notice.

provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Lake*, 169 Wn.2d at 526.

C. A Laborer's Lien Claim Has Three Elements: (1) Performing Labor, (2) For Improvement of Real Property, (3) at the Instance of a Construction Agent of the Owner.

Laborers have a right to lien real property on which they perform construction work. The statute says, "any person [1] *fiurnishing labor* . . . [2] for the improvement of real property shall have a lien upon the improvement for the contract price of labor . . . [3] furnished at the instance of the . . . construction agent of the owner." RCW 60.04.021 (emphasis added). As illustrated, the statute can easily be separated into three components: (1) an individual furnishing labor; (2) for the improvement of real property; (3) which is furnished at the instance of the construction agent of the owner.

D. The Laborers Meet Elements One and Two: Performing Labor for the Improvement of Real Property.

The laborers readily establish the first two elements. First, "[f]urnishing labor" is defined to include "the *performance* of *any labor*." RCW 60.04.011(4) (emphasis added). "Labor" is defined as the "exertion of the powers of body or mind performed at the site for compensation." RCW 60.04.011(7). The laborers in this case performed carpentry framing. Under the plain meaning of the statute, carpentry framing constitutes

"labor," and such "labor" was exerted on Milestone's "site for compensation." *See* RCW 60.04.011(4) & (11). Second, "[i]mprovement" is defined as "[c]onstructing, altering . . . upon any real property or street." RCW 60.04.011(5). Framing carpentry is the epitome of an improvement upon real property; without framing a building cannot stand erect.⁵

Milestone⁶ argued below that "Washington law certainty does not contemplate that each employee of a subcontractor has a lien for labor he or she performed on the premises." CP 65 & 275. Milestone argued that "construction jobs [would] come to a halt" if each of, for example, "10,000" subcontractor employees could file individual liens. CP 184. This argument runs counter to the plain meaning of the lien statute. Milestone's argument is really a policy argument for changing the current law—not an argument about how to correctly apply it. As discussed *infra* providing

.

⁵ Moreover, the right of laborers to lien is further supported by the lien statute's priority provision, which provides that the rank of lien claimants:

[[]S]hall be in the following order:

⁽a) Liens for the performance of labor . . .

⁽d) Liens for subcontractors, including but not limited to their labor and materials, and

⁽e) Liens for prime contractors

RCW 60.04.181. The ranking provision makes it clear that individuals may lien for the labor that they performed, with the individual laborers having priority over labor liens filed by the contractors or subcontractors who employed them.

⁶ "Milestone," as used in the argument portion of this brief, refers to all three respondents, Milestone, Milestone 2, and Red Canoe.

laborers and material suppliers broad lien rights is consistent with the purposes of Washington's longstanding lien laws.

- E. A Licensed Contractor or Subcontractor is the "Construction Agent" of the Property Owner, Especially Where the Laborer or Material Supplier Acts to Assist the Contractor or Subcontractor in Meeting Its Contractual Obligations.
 - 1. <u>Licensed Contractors and Subcontractors Are "Construction Agents."</u>

A lien for labor, materials, or other lienable service is available when the labor, material, or service was "furnished at the instance of the owner, or the agent or construction agent of the owner." RCW 60.04.021. Construction agent is defined as follows:

"Construction agent" means any registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, engineer, or other person having charge of any improvement to real property, who shall be deemed the agent of the owner for the limited purpose of establishing the lien created by this chapter.

RCW 60.04.011(1) (emphasis added). The statute as written provides that any licensed contractor or licensed subcontractor is the owner's construction agent. ABSI was a licensed contractor. CP 158-62 & 320. The laborers were employees of ABSI, and, at ABSI's request, they performed labor on improvements on Milestone's property. CP 68-70, 157, 174-76. That should be the end of the analysis. Nothing more is needed.

2. A Material Supplier or Laborer Contracting with a Licensed Contractor or Subcontractor Need Not Prove That the

<u>Contractor or Subcontractor had "Charge of Any</u> Improvement to Real Property."

Milestone has a more restrictive reading of the term "construction agent." It relied on the final phrase in the first sentence of RCW 60.04.011(1), which reads "or other person having charge of any improvement to real property," to argue that contractors, subcontractors, architects and engineers are constructions agents only if—like that "other person"—they too have "charge of any improvement to real property." CP 64 & 274 (emphasis added).

Indeed, Milestone takes it a big step further, arguing that the construction agent must be "the company in charge of the improvement"—thereby virtually eliminating all subcontractors, architects and engineers from the possibility of being a construction agent. CP 64, 180, 274, & 403-04 (emphasis added). Milestone's interpretation of the statute is wrong for three reasons. It is inconsistent with (a) the first antecedent rule of statutory construction, (b) the statutory history and framework of the lien laws, and (c) the liberal rules of construction that apply to lien laws.

Alternatively, as is discussed *infra*, even if the phrase, "other person having charge of any improvement to real property," applied to licensed contractors and subcontractors, contractors <u>and subcontractors</u> performing work within the scope of their contracts have charge over the improvement

that they were contracted to perform. ABSI is a construction agent for Milestone with regard to the framing of the buildings, even under an incorrect, narrow interpretation of "construction agent."

a. The Last Antecedent Rule

Milestone's argument conflicts with the last antecedent rule of statutory construction. Under the last antecedent rule "qualifying words and phrases refer to the last antecedent" except perhaps where a comma appears before the qualifying words. *City of Spokane v. County of Spokane*, 158 Wn.2d 661, 673, 146 P.3d 893 (2006). Here, the phrase "having charge of any improvement to real property" modifies its last antecedent, "other person." The phrase does not jump back and modify the words contractors, subcontractors, architects or engineers. The last antecedent of the sentence—"other person"—is the only noun restricted by the modifier. The term "other person" needs to be restricted. Otherwise every person who secures services or materials for a project is the owner's "construction agent." There is no similar need to restrict contractor or subcontractor. Indeed, doing so conflicts with the statutory framework and history.

b. Statutory History and Framework

11

⁷ The last antecedent rule was an accepted cannon of statutory construction in Washington when the lien statute was enacted, *see State v. Bailey*, 67 Wash. 336, 338, 121 P. 821 (1912), and when the modern version of the lien statute was adopted in 1992, *see Pasco v. PERC*, 119 Wn.2d 504, 509-10, 833 P.2d 381 (1992).

The last antecedent rule is especially appropriate in the present case. The pertinent language has existed in Washington lien law—without a comma—since at least 1893. *See* LAWS OF 1893, ch. 24, § 1.8 The statute was designed to allow material and labor suppliers to have confidence in their ability to <u>rely</u> on lien rights when dealing with downstream subcontractors—not merely the general contractor who was is in charge of the overall construction project. Subcontractors have been included in the list of construction agents since at least 1854. *See* LAWS OF 1854, at 392.

The contractor registration provision, RCW 60.04.041, best illustrates how the statute is intended to operate in the context of multiple layers of subcontractors:

[1] A contractor or subcontractor required to be registered under chapter 18.27 RCW or licensed under chapter 19.28 RCW, or otherwise required to be registered or licensed by law, shall be deemed the construction agent of the owner for the purposes of establishing the lien created by this chapter only if so registered or licensed. [2] Persons dealing with contractors or subcontractors may rely, for the purposes of this section, upon a certificate of registration issued pursuant to chapter 18.27 RCW [3] No lien rights described in this chapter shall be lost or denied by virtue of the absence, suspension, or revocation of such registration or license with respect to any contractor or subcontractor not in immediate contractual privity with the lien claimant.

-

⁸ The 1893 law provided that "every contractor, subcontractor architect, builder or person having charge of the construction, alteration or repair of any property subject to the lien as aforesaid, shall be held to be the agent of the owner for the purposes of the establishment of the lien created by this act." LAWS OF 1893, ch. 24, § 1.

(Emphasis added.)

The first sentence is consistent with construing RCW 60.04.021 to provide that all licensed contractors and subcontractors on a project are "construction agents" for purposes of filing a lien. This is because there is no additional requirement of being in charge of the project.

The second sentence speaks of the statutory interest in promoting reliance by persons dealing with licensed contractors and subcontractors. That reliance is what makes the lien statute function—encouraging development today as it did in 1893.

The final sentence makes it clear that entities dealing with downstream subcontractors have a right to lien, even if some entity further up the chain (closer to the owner) fails to meet licensing requirements. Lien claimants need not be concerned about the licensing status of upstream entities.

-

RCW 60.04.041 is of modern origin, first appearing in Laws of 1991, chapter 281, section 4. It was enacted to overrule *Fair Price House Moving Co. v. Pacleb*, 42 Wn. App. 813, 714 P.2d 321 (1986), in which the court held that a lien elaimant who contracted with a licensed subcontractor lost its right to lien because the general contractor was unlicensed. RCW 60.04.041 demonstrates that the Legislature puts a premium on the ability of lien claimants to rely on the licensing status of subcontractors with whom they directly deal. The Senate Bill Report, SSB 5497 (1991), described the rule in *Fair Price House Moving Co.* as a "needless trap" which was "eliminated so that lien rights are not lost if the entity with which the lien claimant contracts is registered or licensed, if required to be." S.B. Rep. on Substitute S.B. 5497, 52nd Reg. Sess. (Wash. 1991). Of course, in the present case, ABSI directly contracted with the owner and was a licensed contractor acting as a subcontractor.

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