NO. 48058-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS,
DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Francisco Guillen, et al.,
Appellants,

v.

BENJAMIN PEARSON, et al.,
Respondents,

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2016 JAN 22 AM 9:39
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY _____
DEPUTY

RESPONSIVE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT,
MILESTONE AT WYNNSTONE, LLC
AND
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

BART L. ADAMS
Attorney for Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC
2626 N. Pearl
Tacoma, WA 98407
(253) 761-0141
WSBA #11297

ORIGINAL

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

III. ARGUMENT

LIEN STATUTE IS STRICTLY CONSTRUED IN DETERMINING WHETHER PLAINTIFFS ARE WITHIN CLASS AUTHORIZED TO HAVE A STATUTORY LIEN

Plaintiffs argue at Page 16 of their Opening Brief that the Lien Statute, and particularly RCW 60.04.011 through 60.04.226 are to be liberally construed to find that the Plaintiffs have a lien rights. That argument is directly contrary to clear Washington law that holds that the rule of strict construction must be employed in determining whether one is within a class authorized to have a statutory lien. *Dean v. McFarland Wrecking Co.*, 81 Wn.2d 215, 500 P.2d 1244 (1972). *Dean, supra*, held that where there is a question as to whether or not a party falls with the class of potential plaintiffs entitled to a lien, that the statute must be strictly construed. The Court said, at page 219 and 220:

A lien of the type involved here is a creature of statute and is in derogation of common law. As such, it must be strictly construed to determine whether a lien attaches. The statutory operation is not extended for the benefit of those who do not clearly come within the terms of the statute.

The Court went on at page 221 to make it clear that the issue in the case was whether or not the contractor was within the class authorized to have a lien when it said, at page 221:

In light of the rule of strict construction that must be employed, when determining whether one is within a class authorized to have a statutory lien, we must hold the words clearing, grading or filling do not clearly extend the class to one who hauls away debris from a building demolished by another.

Dean, supra, has never been questioned or overruled. The law is clear that when determining whether or not a party has lien rights, the statute is to be strictly construed.

The issues in this case are whether the Plaintiffs, who are not licensed as contractors but were employees of a subcontractor, have a right to file a lien at all, and if they do, their lien binds the owner. RCW 60.04 is to be strictly construed against the Plaintiffs in determining whether they are claimants with a right to a lien.

Plaintiffs cite *Williams v. Athletic Field, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 683, 261 P.3d 109 (2011) as authority that the Court can apply liberal construction in determining whether or not the Plaintiffs fall within the scope of persons entitled to claim a lien. The case does not support Plaintiffs and it in fact supports the Defendant's

argument that Plaintiff's lien claims must be strictly construed. In *Williams, supra*, the issue before the Court was whether a lien that was executed and notarized but failed to contain language from the lien statute that it was executed freely and voluntarily, was sufficient to create a valid lien under RCW 60.04.091(2). The case discussed the "dueling cannons of construction" discussing whether RCW 60.04.091(2) should be interpreted liberally or strictly. The Court discussed the history of the two lines of authority and limited the strict construction rule to determining whether persons or services come within the statute's protection.

The Court said, at page 696:

We agree with Hos that the appropriate way to view the competing cannons of strict and liberal construction is found in our early cases. The Strict Construction Rule, at its origin, was invoked to determine whether persons or services came within the statute's protection.

Because the case involved whether the form of the lien was appropriate and not whether the Plaintiffs were proper lien claimants, the Court applied the Liberal Construction Rule. It left unchanged the strict construction of the lien statute in deciding whether persons or services come within the statute's protection.

Shelcon Construction Group, LLC vs. Haymond, 187 Wn.App. 878, 351 P.3d 895 (2015) also cited by the Plaintiff does not change the Strict Construction Rule with respect to whether persons or services come within the statute's protection. That case

involved the effect of a partial release of a lien that had nothing to do with persons or services provided.

In the instant case the issue before the Court is whether Plaintiffs, who are not licensed contractors, who were employees of a subcontractor and who were not hired by either the statutory agent of the owner or the actual agent of the owner, had lien rights. The court is to strictly construe the lien statute against finding lien rights.

LIEN RIGHTS EXTEND ONLY TO PERSONS HIRED BY THE OWNER'S ACTUAL OR STATUTORY AGENT

The Plaintiffs admit they had no contractual privity with Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC, the owner at the time the construction was done. For a party who performs labor to have a right to a lien upon the property of the owner, the labor must have been furnished at the instance of the owner, the actual agent, or the construction agent of the owner. RCW 60.04.021. That statute states:

Except as provided in RCW 60.04.031, any person furnishing labor, professional services, materials, or equipment for the improvement of real property shall have a lien upon the improvement for the contract price of labor, professional services, materials, or equipment furnished at the instance of the owner, or the agent or construction agent of the owner.

The statute unequivocally provides that a person entitled to a lien is a person furnishing labor at the instance of the owner, the actual

agent or the construction agent of the owner. In the instant case, the Plaintiffs performed labor at the instance of ABSI Builders, Inc., not at the instance of the owner at the time construction was done, Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC. It is not disputed and Plaintiffs have not argued that ABSI Builders was the actual agent of the owner. The contract between Milestone and ABSI expressly provides that ABSI is not the agent of Milestone for any purpose.

The contract states:

The subcontractor shall under no circumstances be considered as the agent or employee of builder and shall have no right or authority to, in any manner, obligate the builder to any other person or entity. (CP 67).

The Declaration of Brandon Smith of October 2, 2015 (CP 67) also states:

ABSI was not the agent of Milestone for any purpose.

There is no factual dispute that ABSI was not the agent of Milestone. In order for it to have the authority to bind Milestone, the property owner to a lien under RCW 60.04.021, ABSI must have been the construction agent for the property owner, Milestone, at the time Plaintiffs performed their services.

The term "construction agent" is defined by RCW 60.04.011(1). The statute states:

"Construction agent" means any registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, engineer, or other person

having charge of any improvement to real property, who shall be deemed the agent of the owner for the limited purpose of establishing the lien created by this chapter.

Both case law and noted Washington Practice author Marjorie Rombauer are clear the person or party with control over the entire construction project is the statutory agent as defined by RCW 60.04.011(1). *Henifin Construction, LLC vs. Keystone Construction GW, Inc.*, 136 Wash.App. 268, 145 P.3d 402 (2006). 27 *Marjorie Dick Rombauer Washington Practice Creditors' Remedies-Debtors Relief*, §4.52 (September 2015). In *Henifin, supra*, McDonald's Corporation, the owner of the property on which the sub-contractor claimed a lien, hired Keystone Construction as a general contractor and placed that company in charge of constructing a restaurant on the property. Keystone Construction then hired the subcontractor who claimed a lien. The issue was whether Keystone Construction, the general contractor that McDonald's placed in charge of the construction of a building on the property could bind the owner's property to a lien by a subcontractor it hired. The Court held that since Keystone Construction was in charge of the construction of the McDonald's restaurant for the owner, it met the statutory requirement of "having charge of the improvement to real property" from RCW 60.04.011(1) and was the statutory agent with authority to bind the

owner's property to a lien. The Court cited the basis for his decision in the first paragraph of the case where it said:

Because McDonald's placed general contractor Keystone Construction *in charge of constructing its restaurant*, RCW 60.04.011 (1) deems Keystone to be McDonald's statutory construction agent for purposes of establishing subcontractor Henifin's construction lien on improvements it made to McDonald's property. (Emphasis added).

That the Court interpreted RCW 60.04.011(1) just as Defendant Milestone has to require the general contractor to be placed in charge of the construction job in order for it to be defined as a statutory agent is clear from the case. It said, at page 275:

A statutory agent who may establish a lien under the statute is a limited one. There must be a principal, impliedly the owner, who must grant authority to one of the types of persons enumerated. Although contractors, subcontractors and architects have authority to incur an indebtedness which may result in the attachment of a lien on the owner's property, this authority may arise only where the owner has given it to them.

The Court's intent to limit the ability of any subcontractor to hire 3rd parties who have lien rights to be a statutory agent is clear from the holding of the case that a Keystone Construction was the statutory agent where the court said, at page 275:

... when McDonald's placed Keystone in charge of the construction project, the statutes deemed Keystone to be McDonald's construction agent for the purposes of establishing a lien. (Emphasis added).

The *Henifin* decision is clear that it was not the fact that Keystone was a general contractor who had a construction contract with the owner that made it the construction agent for McDonalds, it was the fact that Keystone was placed in charge of the construction of the building that made it the construction agent for the owner. All of that language in *Henifin, supra* about Keystone being in charge of the construction project would be superfluous if, as Plaintiffs argue, that every contractor or subcontractor hired on a job is the statutory agent of the owner for purposes of having the authority to bind the owner to lien rights.

In the instant case it is not disputed that the owner, Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC was the contractor in charge of the construction project at issue in this case, an apartment building. It hired all of the subcontractors and oversaw the work. The contract signed between Milestone and ABSI made it clear that ABSI was not the agent of Milestone and had no authority to bind Milestone or its property. ABSI was not in charge of constructing the apartment building and it had no ability to pass on lien rights to third parties below it.

27 *Marjorie Dick Rombauer Washington Practice Creditors' Remedies-Debtors Relief*, §4.52 (September 2015) is in accord. There, the author states:

A construction agent is the person having charge of the improvement to real property, including but not

limited to a registered or licensed contractor, subcontractor, architect, or an engineer and is deemed to the agent of the owner only for the purpose of establishing a construction lien.

Rombauer is clear that a construction agent as defined by the statute is the person or entity in charge of the construction project. Milestone at Wynnstone was the party in charge of the construction of the buildings at issue in this case. Only it had the ability to hire entities that would give lien rights against the real property. Since Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC was the construction agent, and since Plaintiffs did not contract with Milestone, Plaintiffs have no lien rights.

Plaintiffs argue that the rules of statutory construction require the court to interpret the statute to state that any subcontractor on a construction job is the construction agent for the owner no matter how many tiers of subcontractors the subcontractor is removed from the owner. No appellate court has ever agreed with that position. Adopting Plaintiffs' interpretation of the statute would mean that on a construction job of a large building where 10,000 different employees worked for various contractors and subcontractors that the owner would be required to get a lien release from each employee to protect against double payment. Such a requirement would make it impossible for a large construction job to proceed. The Court is to interpret ambiguous language to avoid an absurd result. *State v. Vela*, 100 Wash.2d 636,

641, 673 P.2d 185 (1983). It is inconceivable that the Legislature intended require each employee of a subcontractor on each construction job to execute a lien release for each monthly draw on a construction project.

The only authority interpreting the lien statute supporting plaintiff's position is from an attorney who wrote an article that is contrary to the holding of *Henifin*, the case cited as authority for his article. *Ahlers & Cressman Lien and Bond Manual* (2010). The article has never been cited by any Appellate Court. Interestingly however, the author of the article relied on by Plaintiff states in the article that the reason the Court found that the lien attached was that the contractor who hired the plaintiff was placed in charge of the project and, as a result, qualified as the construction agent of the owner. The article cited by Plaintiffs states, in the portion excised from Plaintiff's brief:

"Keystone in turn hired Henifin to perform earth work. Keystone was a licensed contractor *that the owner had placed in charge of the project*, so the court had no trouble in concluding that Keystone was the owner's construction agent. (Emphasis added).

Even the author relied on by Plaintiff, whose article does not even correctly spell *Henifin, supra*, admits that the reason Keystone was found to be the construction agent was because he was placed in charge of the project by McDonald's.

As part of its argument that *Henifin, supra* is not controlling, Plaintiffs make an argument that under the RCW 60.04.011 (5) party can be in charge of a portion of a job without being in charge of a job. The argument misreads the applicable statute. As applicable here, RCW 60.04.011(5) states:

"Improvement" means: (a) Constructing, altering, repairing, remodeling, demolishing, clearing, grading, or filling in, of, to, or upon any real property or street or road in front of or adjoining the same;

That language speaks of an improvement as the finished product. Nothing in the language suggests that portions of an improvement constitute an improvement under the statutory definition. In this case finished apartment buildings were being constructed. To suggest that a subcontractor who does nothing but framing is in charge of the entire project when the statute must be strictly construed in determining the scope of lien rights is meritless. Plaintiffs have no lien claims.

In this case, unlike *Henifin, supra*, the subcontractor Plaintiffs worked for is not in charge of the entire construction job and the contract between Milestone at Wynnestone and ABSI prohibits ABSI from obligating the owner to any other person or entity. Plaintiff's lien claim fails. *Henifin* and the Rombauer Washington Practice article are clear. To meet the definition of

statutory agent under RCW 60.04.011(1) a party must be the party placed in charge of the construction project directly by the owner.

Milestone at Wynnstone has presented unrebutted evidence that it, as owner was the party in charge of the construction project at issue in this case. The Plaintiffs have no evidence to contest that ABSI Builders was not placed in charge of the construction project by the owner of the property, Milestone at Wynnstone. ABSI Builders was one of many subcontractors on the job that worked at the direction of the party in charge of the construction, Milestone at Wynnstone. ABSI Builders was not in charge of the job site or the construction project. The Court has to construe the lien statute strictly against finding lien rights. The lien claims should be dismissed.

PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO LIEN RIGHTS

The Plaintiffs in this cause are not licensed contractors. None of them can bring a claim as a contractor in his individual capacities. RCW 18.27.080. The Plaintiffs have brought suit in this case in their own names, apparently claiming claims that they provided labor on the project at issue in this case in their personal capacity and not as agents for their employer. The law is clear that they did not. The contract for work to be done in this case was between the owner, Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC and ABSI Builders, Inc. It is Plaintiffs' position that both ABSI and the

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